NO.<u>94347-8</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 73833-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4,

Respondent

FILED Apr 07, 2017 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

v.

JOHN E. ERICKSON AND SHELLEY A. ERICKSON, individuals residing in Washington;

Petitioners

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Helmut Kah, WSBA 18541 Attorney for Petitioners

Helmut Kah, Attorney at Law 17924 140th Ave NE, Suite 204 Woodinville, WA 98072-4315 Phone: 206-234-7798 Fax: 425-491-7291 Email: helmutkah@outlook.com

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

John E. Erickson and Shelley A. Erickson ("Ericksons") ask this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decisions terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

Respondent on this petition for review is Deutsche Bank National Trust Co., as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 ("Deutsche Bank").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

A copy of the decision filed February 13, 2017, is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-11.

A copy of the March 8, 2017, order denying Ericksons' motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-12 through A-13

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Must a properly challenged foreclosing plaintiff seeking summary judgment prove it had standing to foreclose on the homeowner's property at the commencement of the lawsuit to be entitled to foreclosure of the subject property?

(2) Did Deutsche Bank establish that it was entitled to enforce the Ericksons' note at the time it commenced judicial foreclosure proceedings? Stated differently, did genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether Deutsche Bank established that it was entitled to enforce the Ericksons' note at the time it commenced foreclosure proceedings, thus precluding summary judgment as to Deutsche Bank's standing to institute the proceedings?

(3) Does collateral estoppel bar the Ericksons from asserting that Deutsche Bank was not the holder of Ericksons' Note, i.e. in possession of the Note, on January 3, 2014, when the complaint to enforce the note and foreclose the deed of trust was filed

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Deutsche Bank filed this action on January 3, 2014, in King County Superior Court to enforce a promissory note and judicially foreclose a deed of trust executed by the Ericksons on March 6, 2006. (CP 1-23) The note in the principal sum of \$476,000 is payable to Long Beach Mortgage Company ("Long Beach").

Ericksons' answer to Deutsche Bank's complaint alleges that "*Plaintiff lacks authority to bring this action. Plaintiff lacks standing.*" (CP 25) Ericksons answer denies that the Note and Deed and Trust were transferred or otherwise assigned to Deutsche Bank and denies that Deutsche Bank was then the holder and owner of the Note and Deed of Trust (CP 26) and denies Deutsche Bank's allegations regarding the amount of the unpaid principal and interest owing on the Note. (CP 3; CP 26)

Ericksons' Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims

allege, among other things, that:

- 23. Plaintiff **lacks authority** to judicially foreclose under CH 61.12 RCW (CP 27 1. 6)
- 27 Plaintiff **lacks standing** to enforce the note behalf of the trust (CP 27 l. 13)

Deutsche Bank filed a motion for summary judgment on May 19,

2015 (CP 213 - 234) together with a declaration by its attorney of record,

lawyer J. Will Eidson, in support. (CP 235 – 255) Lawyer Eidson's

declaration has two exhibits, a copy of a promissory note (CP 239 – 242)

and a copy of a deed of trust (CP 244 - 255)

Ericksons responded (CP 259 – 280; CP 281 – 454).

Deutsche Bank replied (CP 455 – 462).

Two hearings were held on the motion for summary judgment. The first hearing was on July 2, 2015. (VRP July 2, 2015) The second hearing was on July 13, 2015. (VRP July 13, 2015)

Deutsche Bank filed a Supplemental Declaration of J. Will Eidson in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on July 6, 2015. (CP 470 – 503) which included a copy the decision in the U.S. District Court caser of *Erickson v. Long Beach Mortgage Co.*, No. 10–1423 MJP, 2011 WL 830727 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 2, 2011) Ericksons filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment on July 8, 2015. (CP 504 – 516)

The second hearing on summary judgment was held on July 13, 2015. (VRP July 13, 2015)

The court entered an order granting plaintiff's motion for summary judgment on July 17, 2015. (CP 539 - 541) Ericksons moved for reconsideration on July 27, 2105. (CP 542 - 546) The court entered an order denying reconsideration on August 4, 2015. (CP 640 - 648) and a Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure on August 27, 2015. (CP 680 - 685)

Ericksons filed their Notice of Appeal on Monday, August 17, 2015, from the July 17, 2015 Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and the August 4, 2015 Order Denying Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration. (CP 640 – 648) Ericksons filed their Amended Notice of Appeal on August 31, 2015, adding the August 27, 2015 Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure to the trial court decisions from which review is sought. (CP 686 – 700)

The Note attached to Deutsche Bank's complaint (CP 3 ¶ 7; CP 26 ¶ 7; CP 29 ¶ 46) as Exhibit "A" (CP 7 – 10) is payable to Long Beach and has no indorsements or allonges. Although the complaint alleges that Deutsche Bank is the holder and owner of the Note and Deed of Trust (CP

26), it does not allege that the attached Note is a copy of the original Note or that Deutsche Bank has possession of the original.

The note was secured by a deed of trust on Ericksons' homestead in Auburn, King County, Washington, executed on March 3, 2006, recorded on March 9, 2006, naming Long Beach Mortgage Company ("Long Beach") as the original Beneficiary, Ericksons as the Grantors, and Older Republic Title, Ltd, as the Trustee. (CP 3 ¶ 8; CP 29 ¶ 48) A copy of the deed of trust is attached to the complaint (Exhibit "B" at CP 12 – 23) and to Ericksons' answer (Exhibit 2 at CP 52 – 59)

Deutsche Bank submitted three declarations under penalty of perjury in support of its summary judgment motion. All three are signed by its attorney of record, lawyer Will J. Eidson, of Stoel Rives, LLP. (CP 235 - 255; CP 470 - 503; and CP 660 - 666). In addition, lawyer Eidson made unsworn oral representations at the two summary judgment hearings (VRP 7/2/2015; VRP 7/13/2015). No officer, agent, records custodian, employee, or person other than Eidson submitted a declaration or testimony in support of Deutsche Bank's claims.

Eidson's May 19, 2015, two-page declaration with 20 pages of attachments (CP 235 - 255) asserts that Deutsche Bank was the holder of the Ericksons' Note at that time but makes no assertion that it was the

holder or in possession of the Note when the complaint was filed January 3, 2014. Eidson's May 19, 2015 declaration states:

4. The current holder of the Note and Deed of Trust is Plaintiff Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4.

Ericksons challenged Deutsche Bank's standing to bring this judicial foreclosure action. Deutsche Bank does not assert in its motion for summary judgment, in its lawyer's declarations, or orally at either of the two summary judgment hearings, or otherwise, that it possessed the Ericksons' original note when it filed the judicial foreclosure action on January 3, 2014. Eidson nowhere avers that Deutsche Bank had possession of Ericksons' Note when the judicial foreclosure complaint was filed on January 3, 2014.

Eidson's May 19, 2015 declaration (CP 235 - 255) has a note copy attached that Eidson asserts has an undated blank indorsement on the back of the last page. No explanation was provided regarding the undated indorsement. (CP 239 - 242) This Note copy is substantially different in appearance from the note copy attached to the January 3, 2014 complaint. (CP 48 - 50)

The lack of competent admissible evidence in support of the relief granted on summary judgment runs through Deutsche Bank's entire case. For example, the trial court's judgment and decree of foreclosure (CP 680 - 685) enters a money judgment in favor of Deutsche Bank against Ericksons in the principal amount of \$465,047.67 plus interest totaling \$253,354.11 for a total of amount of \$718, 401.78. No evidence was presented as to how the amount of principal or interest was calculated. No records, no ledger, no statement of account was provided. The amount of the money judgment is based solely on lawyer Eidson's statements with no supporting evidence or documentation of any kind. Nowhere does Eidson claim to be a custodian of, to have access to, or to have reviewed any underlying business records.

Regarding the amount claimed and awarded, the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion recites that *"The Ericksons do not challenge the mathematical calculation of the amount due under the note, but stress the fact that no additional evidence of the amount was offered."* "No additional evidence" was offered? But no evidence whatsoever was offered by Deutsche Bank in support of the monetary amount awarded to by the trial court. Deutsche Bank's lawyer Eidson submitted no mathematical calculation of any kind. Eidson merely asserted that this amount is due and the trial court and the Court of Appeals accepted it and awarded and affirmed it without any supporting evidence whatsoever.

Deutsche Bank asserts that a Memorandum Decision entered on by the U.S. District Court, *Erickson v. Long Beach Mortgage Co.*, No. 10–

1423 MJP, 2011 WL 830727 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 2, 2011) (Copy attached at Appendix A- through A-) established that Deutsche Bank had possession of the Ericksons' original Note. The Court of Appeals concluded that "collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons' arguments that Deutsche Bank does not hold the original note". In so holding, the Court of Appeals misconstrues the federal court decision. Nowhere in the federal court decision does it state that Deutsche Bank is holder of the Ericksons' original note. Rather, the federal court decision states only that "the defendants provided sufficient evidence to prove their ownership of the 2006 note." (Unpublished opinion at p. 3)

There were four defendants named in the federal case (removed by defendants from King County Superior Court to U.S. District Court): Long Beach Mortgage Company, Washington Mutual Bank, Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, and Chase Bank. Long Beach had ceased to exist before defendants removed Ericksons' lawsuit from King County Superior Court to the U.S. District Court at Seattle.

Although the federal decision recites that "the defendants provided sufficient evidence to prove their ownership of the 2006 note", it fails to identify which of the several defendants had become the owner of the Note. Nowhere does the federal decision make a determination that any of

the federal case defendants was a holder of the Note with the power to foreclose the deed of trust versus merely an owner of the note.

Nothing stated in the federal court decision confers holder status upon Deutsche Bank. Yet the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion simply assumes despite the lack of such finding that Deutsche Bank was found by the federal court to be the owner *and* holder of the Ericksons' original Note. The Court of Appeals apparently draws that conclusion on the basis of the patently incompetent declaration submitted by Deutsche Bank's lawyer Will Eidsen.

The elements for application of collateral estoppel are not satisfied because the federal decision simply does not place Deutsche Bank in the shoes of a holder of the Ericksons' Note, nor even those of the owner of the note. It states only that the several defendants in that case have shown with sufficient evidence that they are the *owners* of the Note. The federal decision is ambiguous and inconclusive on this critical point.

There is no endorsement on the note copy attached to the January 3, 2014, complaint. The first time any endorsements are purported to be on the Ericksons' note is when lawyer Eidson submitted a note copy followed by a blank white page containing an endorsement as Exhibit A to his declaration dated May 19, 2015. (CP 235 – 242)

There is no proof in this case that Deutsche Bank had possession or was holder of the Ericksons' original note when it filed the complaint on January 3, 2014. As noted in *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 176 Wn.App. 475, 498, 309 P.3d 636 (2013), possession of a copy of the original note does not establish possession of the original note.

None-the-less, the trial court granted all the relief requested by Deutsche Bank's motion for summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Review should be accepted under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals¹, and RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Under Washington law there is a clear distinction between the rights of a holder and the rights of an owner of a promissory note. An owner does not have the right to enforce the note unless the owner is also a holder of the Note or otherwise has the rights of a holder. The right to enforce an instrument and ownership of the instrument are two different

¹ Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, 196 Wn.App. 813, 385 P.3d 233 (Div. 1 2016) as amended 1-15-2016

concepts. Trujillo v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., 181 Wn.App. 484,

326 P.3d 768 (Div. 1 2014).

In *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 196 Wn.App. 813, 385 P.3d 233 (Div. 1 2016) as amended 1-15-2016, the Court of Appeals discusses the difference between the rights of an owner of the promissory note and the rights of the holder. The *Bavand* decision makes clear that status as holder is necessary for a plaintiff to have standing to enforce the Note and foreclose the Deed of Trust, stating that:

"A note owner's identity is immaterial to this litigation. The identity of the note "holder" is material to enforcement of the delinquent note and deed of trust. 196 Wn.App. 823 (citing *Brown v. Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 540, 359 P.3d 771 (2015); *Trujillo*, 181 Wn.App. at 500-02.) *Bavand*, 196 Wn.App. 824- 825

"Under CR 56, the moving party may support its summary judgment motion with affidavits, and the adverse party may file opposing affidavits. CR 56(a), (c) CR 56(e) states that parties must make supporting and opposing affidavits "on personal knowledge," must describe facts admissible in evidence, and must affirmatively show "that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein."

Bavand, 196 Wn.App. 825-826

"To establish standing, Washington law requires that a claimant satisfy a two pronged test. *Branson v. Port of Seattle*, 152 Wn.2d 862, 875, 101 P.3d 67 (2004) First, that party "must show 'a personal injury fairly traceable to the challenged conduct and likely to be redressed by the requested relief." *State v. Johnson*, 179 Wn.2d 534, 552, 315 P.3d 1090 (2013) (quoting *High Tide Seafoods v. State*, 106 Wn.2d 695, 702, 725 P.2d 411 (1986)), cert. denied,

135 S.Ct. 139 (2014). Second, the party must show that his or her interest is within the "zone of interests protected by the statute" at issue. Id.

Bavand, 196 Wn.App. 834

"We review de novo whether a party has standing. *In re Estate of Becker*, 177 Wn.2d 242, 246, 298 P.3d 720 (2013).

Bavand, 196 Wn.App. 834

"In *Brown*, the supreme court concluded that the status of "holder" is dispositive for purposes of enforcing a promissory note. *Brown v. Dep't of Commerce*, 184 Wn.2d 509, 536-540, 359 P.3d 771 (2015); see also *Trujillo v. NwW Tr. Servs., Inc.*, 181 Wn.App. 484, 497-502, 326 P.3d 768 (2014).The status of "owner" is not.

Bavand, 196 Wn.App. 846

"Ownership of a note is irrelevant to enforcement of the note. *Brown*, 184 Wn.2d at 536-40; *Trujillo*, 181 Wn.App. at 499-502.

Bavand, 196 Wn.App. 848

Deutsche Bank lacked standing to file the action to enforce the

Ericksons' Note and foreclose their deed of trust. Although its complaint

alleges that "Deutsche Bank is now the holder and owner of the Note and

Deed of Trust", Deutsche Bank failed to provide any evidence that it

possessed the Ericksons' Note when the complaint was filed on January 3,

2014.

"Standing is a threshold issue". In re Estate of Becker, 177 Wn.2d

242, 246, 298 P.3d 720 (2013) (citing Knight v. City of Yelm, 173 Wash.2d

325, 336, 267 P.3d 973 (2011)); See also Alexander v. Sanford, No.

69637-8-1, Slip Op. ¶ 28 (Wn.App. Div. 1 05-12-2014) (Review granted,

339 P.3d 634 (2014). ²Standing of a plaintiff to bring suit must be determined as of the commencement of the suit. Dispositive to this argument is: "The absence of a valid right of action at the inception of a suit [lack of standing] cannot be cured by filing a supplemental complaint alleging subsequent acquisition of such right of action." *Amende v. Town of Morton,* 40 Wn.2d 104, 106, 241 P.2d 445 (1952).

New York's highest court recently ruled regarding that state's requirement for a plaintiff to prove standing:

"[Because] defendants raised the issue of standing in their answer, plaintiff was [] obligated to demonstrate that it was a holder or assignee of the note and subject mortgage at the time the action was commenced. *JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. Hill,* No. 519429 (NY App. 09-10-2015) (citing *Wells Fargo Bank, NA v Ostiguy,* 127 AD3d at 1376; *Chase Home Fin., LLC v Miciotta,* 101 AD3d 1307, 1307 [2012])).

In the federal system, "[T]he core component of standing is an

essential and unchanging part of the case-or-controversy requirement of

Article III." Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992).

Without standing, a foreclosure claimant's claim cannot move forward.

Indeed, "the [] courts are under an independent obligation to examine

their own jurisdiction, and standing is perhaps the most important of the

² Washington courts have been reluctant to address the issue of standing in the context of judicial foreclosure actions though, as a matter of law, there can be no summary judgment of foreclosure unless standing to enforce the note and foreclose is first established.

jurisdictional doctrines." *FW/PBS. Inc. v. City of Dallas*, 493 U.S. 215, 231 (1990) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also *Vickers v. Henry County Savings & Loan Ass'n*, 827 F.2d 228, 230 (7th Cir. 1987).

Furthermore, the burden is upon the plaintiff to establish standing and the presence of jurisdiction []. *NLFC, Inc. v. Devcom Mid-America. Inc.*, 45 F.3d 231, 237 (7th Cir. 1995); *Grafon v. Hausermann*, 602 F.2d 781, 783 (7th Cir. 1979).

In Washington, standing as to a particular claim may be raised at any time. *Int'l Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 103 Wash.App. 764, 768, 14 P.3d 193 (2000) ("Standing... may be raised for the first time on appeal."). Ericksons' raised the standing issue in their answer to Deutsche Bank's complaint (CP 25; CP 26) and have consistently asserted Deutsche Bank's lack of standing.

A party seeking foreclosure must be the "actual holder" to foreclose. "Only the holder of a note can authorize the foreclosure of the collateral that is security for the note." *Brown, Slip Op.* at 778 n.5 (quoting *SA Anderson On The Uniform Commercial Code* §§ 3-201:5, at 448; *concurring:* Richard Cosway, *Negotiable Instruments-A Comparison of Washington Law and Uniform Commercial Code Article 3*, in *Collected Essays On The Uniform Commercial Code In Washington* 261,268 (1967)). The term "Holder" is a legally defined term:

Washington's UCC defines a "holder" to be the "person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." RCW 62A.1-201(21)(A); accord *Black's Law Dictionary* 848 (10th ed. 2014) (defining "holder" to be a person "who has legal possession of a negotiable instrument and is entitled to receive payment on it").

Brown v. Dep't of Commerce, 184 Wn.2d 509, 526, 359 P.3d 771 (2015)

Recent decisions by the Supreme Courts of New Mexico and

Hawaii are in accord with the foregoing analysis:

Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Johnston, 2016 -NMSC- 013, 369 P.3d 1046 (March 3, 2016) (Copy attached at Appendix A-34 through A-49)

and

Bank of America, N.A. v. Reyes-Toledo, SCWC-15-0000005 Supreme Court of Hawaii (February 28, 2017) (Copy attached at Appendix A-21 through A-33)

F. CONCLUSION

Petitioners respectfully ask this Court to:

- 1. Declare that Deutsche Bank lacked standing;
- 2. Reverse the decisions of the Court of Appeals;
- 3. Remand to the superior court with instructions to:
 - a. Reverse and vacate the Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 539 541)
 - b. Reverse the Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure. (CP 680 685)

- c. Dismiss Deutsche Bank's complaint for lack of standing.
- 4. Award Ericksons' their costs, disbursements and reasonable attorney fees on this petition for review, in the Court of Appeals, and in the trial court;
- 5. Grant such other relief as is just and proper.