# RECEIVED MAY 0 8 2017 WASHINGTON STATE

NO. 94347-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### JOHN E. & SHELLEY A. ERICKSON,

Appellants

v.

### DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST CO., et al.

Respondents.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Court of Appeals, Div. I, No. 73833-0-I

John E. Glowney, WSBA No. 12652 Vanessa Soriano Power, WSBA No. 30777 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 624-0900

Attorneys for Respondent Deutsche Bank National Trust Co. as Trustee



###

### I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 ("Deutsche Bank") submits this answer to the Ericksons' Petition for Review. The Ericksons purport to seek review of Deutsche Bank's standing to sue on the Ericksons' promissory note primarily by claiming, contrary to the trial court record, that Deutsche Bank failed to show that it held the note at the time it filed this lawsuit.

The Ericksons' argument is meritless, both factually and legally, and the Court of Appeals properly denied the Ericksons' appeal.<sup>1</sup> The Court of Appeals' ruling is not contrary to any existing Washington authority and the case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Deutsche Bank submitted the Ericksons' original note and deed of trust at summary judgment and obtained a foreclosure judgment in the trial court. The Ericksons offered no contrary evidence. The law should – and does – enable the party holding the Ericksons' original note to enforce payment through foreclosure (the Ericksons have made no payments since

<sup>1</sup> The Ericksons' arguments are addressed in greater detail in Respondent's Appellate Brief submitted to the Court of Appeals below.

2009.) That result is not only the expected outcome on the law and facts before the trial court, it is undeniably the right outcome.

The Ericksons fail to establish any basis for review by this Court under RAP 13.4 and the petition should be denied.

### II. ARGUMENT

### A. Deutsche Bank Held the Ericksons' Note When it Filed this Lawsuit

The Ericksons' statement of the record before the trial court incorrectly states the relevant facts. Deutsche Bank filed the present lawsuit in King County Superior Court in 2014 to foreclose on the Note and Deed of Trust. CP 1. Deutsche Bank filed a summary judgment motion to dismiss the Ericksons' affirmative defenses and counterclaims and to obtain a decree of foreclosure. CP 215.

At the hearing on the summary judgment motion, Deutsche Bank produced the original Note, endorsed in blank, and the Deed of Trust. VRP at 5-7. The Ericksons failed to challenge the originality of the note in their answer, as specifically required under RCW 62A.3-308(a).<sup>2</sup> Nevertheless, the trial court at the first summary judgment hearing gave the Ericksons a chance to have an expert examine the note. VRP at 41. At the subsequent hearing, the Ericksons made no argument that the note was

<sup>2</sup> Respondent's Appellate Brief pp. 7-10.

not the original. VRP at 45-46. After the second hearing and some supplemental briefing by the parties, Deutsche Bank's summary judgment motion was granted. CP 539. A final judgment of foreclosure was subsequently entered. CP 680.<sup>3</sup> This appeal followed.

Previously, in August 2010, the Ericksons had sued Long Beach, Washington Mutual Bank, Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, and Chase Bank in King County Superior Court. CP 470 (Supp. Eidson Decl. Exs. B, C); *Erickson v. Long Beach Mortg. Co. (Long Beach)*, No. 10-1423 MJP, 2011 WL 830727, at \*2 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 2, 2011), *aff'd*, 473 F. App'x 746 (9th Cir. 2012) (the "2010 District Court Case").<sup>4</sup> Among other things, in 2010 the Ericksons asserted quiet title and injunction claims against foreclosure on the basis that the defendants were not the original creditors and could not produce the Ericksons' original Note and therefore lacked standing to foreclose. *Id*.

In the 2010 District Court Case, Deutsche Bank filed a summary judgment motion and submitted a supporting declaration establishing that the Ericksons' Note and Deed of Trust had been transferred to a mortgage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> While the Ericksons complain about the amount of the judgment, they failed to raise the affirmative defense of payment, and again, provided the trial court with no evidence. Respondent's Appellate Brief, pp. 31-34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The case was removed to federal court.

trust, that Deutsche Bank was the trustee for the mortgage trust, and that it owned and held the Ericksons' original Note.

> Plaintiff's [the Ericksons'] loan was subsequently sold into a securitized pool of loans known as the Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 ("Trust"), with Defendant Deutsche Bank National Trust Company ("DB") acting as Trustee.

CP 446 (Thomas Reardon declaration).<sup>5</sup>

In March 2011, the federal district court rejected the Ericksons' argument that Deutsche Bank and its servicer lacked standing to foreclose because they were not the original creditors and could not produce the original Note, finding that "[m]ore importantly, [Deutsche Bank and its servicer] provide[d] evidence demonstrating their ownership of the note, which the Ericksons do not credibly challenge." CP 470; *Long Beach*, 2011 WL 830727, at \*1, 3. *Id*. The federal district court granted Deutsche Bank's motion for summary judgment, denied the Ericksons' motion for summary judgment, and dismissed the Ericksons' lawsuit. *Id*.

At no point in the trial court proceedings below in this case did the Ericksons produce any evidence that Deutsche Bank did not hold the Ericksons' original note, endorsed in blank, since 2010, when Mr. Reardon's declaration established that Deutsche Bank held the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As the record shows, the Reardon declaration was before the trial court below as part of the summary judgment proceeding.

Erickson's note. CP 446 supra. In particular, the Ericksons submitted no evidence showing that the Note had somehow left Deutsche Bank's possession between the 2010 District Court Case and the filing of the instant action in 2014.<sup>6</sup>

Faced with a summary judgment motion to dismiss their affirmative defenses, including their standing defense, and the evidence that showed Deutsche Bank possessed the Note in the 2010 District Court Case, the Ericksons were obligated by the summary judgment rules to produce contrary evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment. If the moving party demonstrates that there is an absence of any material fact, the nonmoving party must identify a material fact creating a genuine issue for trial. *See Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); CR 56(e) ("[A]n adverse party ... must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial."). The nonmoving party may not rely on the allegations in its complaint, speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or its own affidavits, considered at face value. *E.g. Herman v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 104 Wn. App. 783, 787-88, 17 P.3d 631 (2001); *see* CR 56(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> For example, the Ericksons produced no evidence of transfers of the note to another party, or that another party claimed to hold the note and had made demand upon the Ericksons to pay this Note.

party entitled to enforce the Note, and the Deed of Trust securing the Note.<sup>8</sup>

### C. The Ericksons Fail to Raise Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Undoubtedly, a plaintiff must have standing to sue on a note. But as explained above, Deutsche Bank established standing. Standing is a party's right to make a legal claim or seek judicial enforcement of a duty or right. *State v. Link*, 136 Wn. App. 685, 692, 150 P.3d 610, *rev. denied*, 160 Wn.2d 1025 (2007). The doctrine of standing prohibits a party from asserting another's legal right. *West v. Thurston County*, 144 Wn. App. 573, 578, 183 P.3d 346 (2008). The rule ensures that courts render a final judgment on an actual dispute between opposing parties that have a genuine stake in resolving the dispute. *Lakewood Racquet Club, Inc. v. Jensen*, 156 Wn. App. 215, 223, 232 P.3d 1147 (2010). Deutsche Bank's submission of the Note at summary judgment assured the trial court that Deutsche Bank was the proper party entitled to obtain a final judgment on the Note obligation and to enforce the security for the Note through foreclosure. The Ericksons face no risk of double payment.

The Ericksons, ignoring the trial court summary judgment record, argue that Deutsche Bank had some different procedural duty to show it

<sup>8</sup> Respondent's Appellate Brief, pp. 6-16.

had standing at the time of filing the complaint in some manner other than the evidence already in the record. But whether standing to sue on a note should be challenged through an affirmative defense, or how and when a plaintiff should establish its standing in some other manner are not issues raised by this case on the record below. The Ericksons never submitted evidence contradicting the evidence Deutsche Bank submitted at summary judgment, and have submitted no Washington authority identifying some other rule. *See Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Slotke*, 192 Wn. App. 166, 367 P.3d 600 (2016). The Ericksons submit case law from other jurisdictions addressing the requirement that a plaintiff must show that it holds the defendant's note at the time of filing its complaint to establish standing to sue on the note. But the Ericksons submit no similar existing Washington authority and failed to rebut the evidence at summary judgment established by their own prior 2010 District Court Case.

In short, this alleged issue is not contrary to any existing Washington case law nor is it an issue of substantial public interest. Indeed, there is no evidence that Washington trial courts have been subjected to a plague of plaintiffs filing lawsuits on notes they don't hold, only later to obtain possession of the notes by the time of filing a summary judgment motion. It is undisputed that Deutsche Bank held the Ericksons' original promissory note; that Deutsche Bank is the party entitled to